2006

# James Hall v. Utah Labor Commission, Consolidated Freightways and/or Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-46(b)-16 (1988) and Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-801(1997),

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issues presented in this matter concern:

1. Whether the Labor Commission erred in concluding that a worker with light duty restrictions that do not impact on his ability to perform his work

duties is not entitled to temporary total disability when the employer will not take him back for work until the light duty restrictions have been removed.

Whether the Labor Commission erroneously applied the law is a mixed question of law and fact, which will be reviewed for reasonableness and rationality. The Court will uphold the Labor Commission's determination unless it exceeds the bounds of reasonableness and rationality. Acosta v. Labor Commission, 44 P.3d 819, 2002 UT App 67 (Ut. Ct. App 2002).

2. Whether or not light duty work was available to the Petitioner involves a question of fact, and the Labor Commission will only be upheld in a factual determination if the findings are supported by substantial evidence based upon the record as a whole. Brown & Root Indus. Serv. v. Industrial Commission, 947 P.2d 671, 677 (Utah 1997).

### **CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

None.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **PROCEDURE**

1. Mr. Hall filed an Application for Hearing with the Utah Labor Commission on January 3, 2002 claiming coverage for medical expenses and temporary total disability compensation (Record at 2-9).

2. Rather than go to an evidentiary hearing, the case was initially sent directly by the Administrative Law Judge to a medical panel by stipulation of the parties on February 5, 2004 (Record at 35-36).

3. The medical panel's decision was issued on March 26, 2004 and an initial Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was issued on November 30, 2004 (Record at 37-46 and 47-50).

4. On December 30, 2004 the Petitioner filed a Motion for Review with the Labor Commission and as a result, the Labor Commission set up a date for an evidentiary hearing for August 16, 2005 (Record at 51).

5. Following the hearing, a Supplemental Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was issued on January 4, 2006.

6. A Motion for Review was filed by the Petitioner on February 3, 2006. (Record at 64-68).

7. An Order Denying Motion for Review was issued by the Utah Labor Commission on February 28, 2006 (Record at 91-94).

8. A Motion for Reconsideration was filed by the Petitioner on March 16, 2006 (Record at 95-99) and an Order Extending the Time for Reconsideration was issued by the Labor Commission on 3-27-06 (Record at 100-101).

9. The Petition for Review was filed by the Petitioner with the Utah Court of Appeals on May 30, 2006 following the Memorial Day holiday.

## **FACTS**

1. Petitioner James Hall began working for Consolidated Freightways in October of 1999. He worked full-time as a long-haul driver.

(Record at 31)

2. Beginning in the spring of the year 2000, he began experiencing periodic pain in his right arm the occasional numbness in several fingers of his right hand. He also began having periodic pain and numbness in his wrists.

(Record at 31)

3. On October 28, 2001 Mr. Hall learned of his being laid off from his work at CF, along with a number of other drivers.

4. On October 29, 2001 Mr. Hall first saw a doctor because of his concern about the symptoms he had been experiencing in his left arm. He reported this injury claim to CF and medical bills for treatment for the condition were paid by CF until mid-December 2001 at which time the claim was denied as being industrially related. (Record at 31-32 and Transcript at 18, 1. 5-10).

5. The petitioner was released for full duty on December 18, 2001 by Dr. Jeffrey Scott. (Medical exhibit at 64).

6. Also in December the petitioner was seen by Dr. Mark Greenwood who diagnosed chronic trapezius strain and recommended further

medical care. He was then referred by Dr. Greenwood to see Dr. David Petron, an orthopedic specialist. (Medical exhibit at 8-11).

7. Dr Petron kept the petitioner in a light duty status until a full duty work-release was given on May 9, 2002. (Medical exhibit at 2, 5, 6).

8. After being given a full duty work-release, the petitioner returned to work with Consolidated Freightways in May of 2002. (Transcript at 16, l. 13-19)

9. On January 2, 2002 and January 21, 2002 letters were sent by Mr. Hall's direct supervisor Roy Johnson to Mr. Hall recalling him to work. (Record at 57B-57E).

10. Mr. Hall testified at the evidentiary hearing that he responded to the letters and spoke with Mr. Johnson's assistant Lou Duffin about returning to work. Mr. Hall testified that because he was in a light duty status and because his condition was not recognized as being industrially related at that time that no work was available for him nor would be available for him until he was given a full duty work-release. (Transcript at 10, 11).

11. On January 4, 2002 Mr. Hall filed an Application for Hearing with the Utah Labor Commission seeking temporary total disability benefits as well as medical benefits. (Record at 2-9).

12. At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Roy Johnson testified on behalf of CF. Mr. Johnson was the dispatch operations manager at CF in Salt Lake.

(Transcript at 23, l. 15-17). He was Mr. Hall's direct supervisor. He stated that he did not remember having a discussion with Mr. Hall after either of the two letters were sent about Mr. Hall about returning to work. He testified that it is possible he had a discussion, but he didn't recall whether he did or did not. (Transcript at 25, l. 1-3).

13. Mr. Johnson also testified that he had people on light duty working at CF but they were the people off on industrial leave as documented by their doctors:

**Question:** Okay. Tell me about consolidated freight ways. Do they have a light duty program?

**Answer:** Yes. I had several people on light duty that did different jobs according to their physical ability at that time.

**Question:** Okay and is that offered to any employee who is injured?

**Answer:** It is to—it was, to those there are off on industrial, yes, providing that the doctor released them as such.

(Transcript at 25, l. 4-13).

14. Mr. Johnson testified that recalls from layoff were done by seniority order. If a person doesn't respond to the letter of recall within 14 days, they are discharged from employment at CF. (Transcript at 27, l. 25 and 28, l.10-16).

15. Also testifying at the hearing on behalf of CF was Mr. Stephen R Hillstead. Mr. Hillstead was the group operations manager for CF for the entire area of Montana, Idaho, Nevada and Utah. (Transcript at 30, l. 16-22).

16. Mr Hillstead testified that work was available for Mr. Hall after January 2, 2002 but he did not show up for work. He testified that Mr. Hall would have reported to Roy Johnson and Lou Duffin but he didn't come back to work after the recall letters have been sent. (Transcript at 35, l. 9-20).

17. Mr. Hillstead also testified later in his testimony that it was his understanding that Mr. Hall never reported back for work in January of 2002. He acknowledged that Mr. Hall did return to work after May of 2002. (Transcript at 37, l. 21-25 and 38, l. 1-4).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Labor Commission concluded that Mr. Hall was fully able to perform his work duties after December 18, 2001 and hence, despite various light duty restrictions given him by his doctors, he was not entitled to any further temporary total disability benefits, notwithstanding the fact that he was not given a full duty release until May 9, 2002. Mr. Hall claims that no light duty work was available for him from the employer and hence temporary total disability benefits should be paid until MMI was reached. A finding that Mr.

Hall had light duty work available to him at his employer is not supported by the greater weight of the evidence.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

**An injured worker with light duty restrictions that do not impact on his ability to perform his work duties is nevertheless entitled to temporary total disability when the employer will not take him back for work until all light duty restrictions have been removed.**

In the Order Denying Motion for Review, and in the Order Denying Request for Reconsideration, the Labor Commission decided that Mr. Hall was able to return to full duty work with Consolidated Freightways after December 18, 2001 and hence was not entitled to consideration for further temporary total disability benefits, despite being on light duty restrictions.

This light duty status continued after that date and until May 9, 2002 when he reached maximum medical improvement and was given a final full duty release, without restrictions, by his treating doctor, Dr. Petron. At that time, he did return to work (Transcript p. 21, l. 20-23).

Normally, we would agree that such a finding, in light of the language of Entwhistle v. Wilkins, 626 P.2d 498 (Utah 1981), would mark the end of the appropriate period of temporary total disability benefits.

In Entwhistle, the Utah Supreme Court stated, as noted by the Labor Commission:

As applied to the issue under consideration here, total disability does not mean a state of abject helplessness or that the injured employee must be unable to do any work at all. The fact that an injured employee may be able to do some kinds of tasks to earn occasional wages does not necessarily preclude a finding of total disability to perform the work or follow the occupation in which he was injured. **His temporary disability may be found to be total if he can no longer perform the duties of the character required of him in his occupation prior to his injury.** Emphasis added

If, despite being given light duty restrictions by the treating physician, a man is able to perform all of the essential portions of his work duties, then usually temporary total disability would end.

The problem in this case is that the Labor Commission apparently did not properly consider the issue of whether the employer, CF, was willing to take back an employee who is on light duty but for what was not being considered to be an industrial injury.

Section 34A-2-410(2), Utah Code Annotated, provides that temporary total disability benefits are to continue to be paid if light duty release is obtained before an injured worker reaches a fixed state of recovery when no light duty work is available from the employer:

In the event a light duty medical release is obtained prior to the employee reaching a fixed state of recovery, and when no light duty employment is available to the employee from the employer, temporary disability benefits shall continue to be paid.

Mr. Hall's was in a light duty status until May 9, 2002 due to continuing further treatment, medications and physical therapy. Dr. David Petron's records from January 31, 2002 show him to be released for work but in a light duty capacity (p.2 of Med Records Exhibit), as do the records from the April 1, 2002 visit (p.5 of Med Records Exhibit). He was not given a full-duty release until May 9, 2002 (p.6 of Med Records Exhibit). He clearly did not reach a fixed state of recovery, or maximum medical improvement, in December of 2001 when the Commission otherwise terminated his period of temporary total disability.

Because he was in a light duty status, unless the employer offered work to the Petitioner, then temporary total disability benefits should continue to be paid until a fixed state of recovery is reached. In this matter, that date of MMI was reached on May 9, 2002.

## **POINT II**

**There is no substantial evidence in the record to support the Labor Commission's finding that the employer would take the Petitioner back to work in January of 2002.**

The record shows that Roy Orson Johnson was the dispatch operations manager at Consolidated Freightways and was the person to whom Mr. Hall reported. (Transcript at p.23, l. 16-17 and p.35, l. 16-17).

Mr. Johnson testified that Consolidated Freightways had a light duty policy or program (Transcript at p.25, l. 6-8). However, he testified that light duty is only given to employees “off on industrial”, providing that their doctors released them from work as such. (Transcript at p.25, l. 11-13).

This is in harmony with Mr. Hall’s testimony when he said he was told that “because it was not an industrial accident, they (CF) didn’t have anything for me. If I’m not cleared for work, I can’t work. I couldn’t do my job because I had light-duty restrictions.” (Transcript at p.11, l. 8-12). Mr. Hall did return to work at CF after receiving his full-duty release in May of 2002.

The only other evidence in the record concerning whether light-duty work was available comes from the testimony of Mr. Steven R. Hillstead, who was the regional manager for CF over all of Montana, Idaho, Nevada and Utah.

Mr. Hillstead claimed that light duty work was available and Mr. Hall’s regular job was available for him at CF in January of 2002. (Transcript at p.34, l. 7-12). For this job, he would have reported to Roy Johnson (or Mr. Johnson’s assistant Lou Duffin) (Transcript at p.35, l. 16-17). This is at odds with Mr. Johnson’s testimony that light-duty work was only tendered to those who have had industrial accidents and have light-duty releases from their doctors.

The evidence in this case shows that on January 2, 2002 and January 21, 2002 Mr. Hall received a recall to work following a general layoff period and was required to report to work within two weeks or lose all seniority rights (Exhibit R3). Mr. Hall testified that he spoke with his assistant supervisor Lew Duffin following receipt of that letter but was not offered light duty work for three reasons:

1. Because he was not released for full-duty work by his doctor;
2. Because his arm problems at that time were not considered work related by the employer; and
3. Because light duty was only offered by CF to employees who were off from work due to a recognized work injury. CF was not recognizing the injury at that time as being work related. (Transcript at p.11., l. 2-12),

This is consistent with Roy Johnson's testimony that light duty work was only offered to those who were off work due to industrial injuries.