2006

James Hall v. Utah Labor Commission, Consolidated Freightways and/or Fidelity and Guarantee Insurance : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Consolidated's position on appeal is Mr. Hall failed to marshal the evidence to overturn a factual finding made by the Administrative Law Judge and a finding made by the Labor Commission on review. Mr. Hall provides conclusive statements that the Commission's orders were not supported by the greater weight of evidence, but then fails to marshal the evidence in support of the Commission's ruling. This failure allows the Court of Appeals to make a finding that the evidentiary findings of the Commission are supported by substantial evidence. If the findings are supported by substantial evidence then Mr. Hall cannot show prejudice under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(g) and his appeal fails for lack of prejudice as a result of the factual findings.

Consolidated further argues that Mr. Hall has failed to show that under the facts of the case he is entitled to additional amounts of temporary total disability. The Commission found that Mr. Hall was released to full duty on December 18, 2006, by his doctors. Given his stipulated work restrictions and his testimony at the evidentiary

hearing, Mr. Hall was properly found to have been released to full duty on December 18, 2001 and, as a result, Mr. Hall is not entitled to additional amounts of temporary total disability.

ARGUMENTS

I. BECAUSE MR. HALL FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE LABOR COMMISSION'S FINDINGS OF FACT, THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT THE CHALLENGE AND FIND THE COMMISSION DECISION IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

Mr. Hall's appeal should be denied and the Commission's ruling upheld as a result of Mr. Hall's failure to properly challenge the findings of fact made by the Commission. If challenging a factual determination made by the Commission, it is Mr. Hall's responsibility to show he has been substantially prejudiced by the agency's findings of fact and to show the finding of fact is not supported by substantial evidence. Mr. Hall did not properly challenge the Commission's findings of fact and, therefore, Mr. Hall's appeal challenging the Commission's findings should be denied and the Commission's rulings upheld.

A failure to properly challenge the findings of fact is fatal as the Court of Appeals will find any such failure will be taken as an indication the record supports such findings of fact and the Court will not disturb them. Ameritemps v. Labor Comm'n, 2005 UT App 491, ¶ 27, 128 P.3d 31, *citing*, Heber City Corp. v. Simpson, 942 P.2d 307, 312 (Utah 1997). To show that a finding of fact is not supported by substantial evidence, Mr. Hall must marshal the evidence in support of the Commission's findings in his opening brief. *Id.* at ¶ 27 n. 5, *citing*, Campbell v. Box Elder County, 962 P.2d 806, 808 (Utah Ct.

App. 1998). Mr. Hall failed to properly marshal the evidence in his opening brief and, therefore, the Commission's order should be upheld as being substantially supported by evidence.

In his Appellate Brief, Mr. Hall provides conclusive statements that the Commission's orders were not supported by the greater weight of evidence, but then fails to marshal the evidence in support of the Commission's ruling. In essence, Mr. Hall is attempting to reargue his points below without supporting his arguments through marshaling.

The Utah Court of Appeals in Ameritemps ruled that selective recitation of the facts is an attempt to indirectly challenge an agency's factual findings. Ameritemps, 2005 UT App 491 at ¶ 27. In addition, the Court provided it "will not disturb the [Commission's] findings simply because another conclusion can be drawn from the evidence in the record." *Id.*, citing, Whitewar v. Labor Comm'n, 973 P.2d 982, 984 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (stating that "findings will 'not be overturned if based upon substantial evidence, even if another conclusion from the evidence is permissible.'" (citation omitted)). Finally, the Court assumed the facts were supported by substantial evidence as a result of the failure to directly challenge the factual findings. *Id.*

In this case, Mr. Hall argues in Point I of his Appellant Brief that the Commission's finding that Mr. Hall was cleared for regular employment was erroneous. Mr. Hall's Appellant Brief, Page 9. Mr. Hall argues that despite the evidence indicating Mr. Hall was cleared for regular employment Mr. Hall is entitled to additional temporary disability benefits beyond the December 18, 2001 date found by the Commission.

Mr. Hall does not marshal the facts in support of the Commission's findings, but instead points to facts favorable to his position and argues the Commission should have ruled differently as a result of the facts presented by Mr. Hall. As stated by the Court of Appeals in Ameritemps, Mr. Hall is indirectly challenging the factual findings of the Commission without marshaling the evidence. This amounts to rearguing the case below, which is impermissible when a party is seeking to challenge a factual finding by the Commission.

A failure to properly challenge the findings of fact is fatal as the Court of Appeals will find any such failure will be taken as an indication the record supports such findings of fact and the Court will not disturb them. Ameritemps, 2005 UT App 491 at ¶ 27. As a result, this Court should find the Commission's finding that Mr. Hall was able to return to work on December 18, 2001 and was not temporary and totally disabled as of that date (AR 107) was supported by substantial evidence.

If this Court finds the Commission's factual finding was supported by substantial evidence, it must find that Mr. Hall was not substantially prejudiced by a factual finding that was unsupported by the substantial evidence. If Mr. Hall was not substantially prejudiced by the factual finding, Mr. Hall's appeal of the factual findings of the Commission fails and the Court must uphold the Commission's Order. As a result of Mr. Hall's failure to marshal the evidence in support of the Commission's findings, this Court should deny Mr. Hall's appeal in the instant case.

II. BECAUSE THE COMMISSION'S FINDING OF A FULL MEDICAL RELEASE WAS SUBSTANTIALLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE COMMISSION FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND ORDER

In his Appellant Brief, Mr. Hall argues that he “was in a light duty status until May 9, 2002 due to continuing further treatment, medications and physical therapy.” Mr. Hall’s Appellant Brief, Page 11. Mr. Hall argues that he was on light duty release despite medical evidence that he had been released for regular duty on December 18, 2001. Mr. Hall did not marshal the evidence in support of the Commission’s ruling, but merely quoted medical records that supported his position. Despite this defect, Consolidated will show the supporting evidence in favor of the Commission’s ruling that Mr. Hall was released back to work for full duty employment on December 18, 2001.

Specifically, the Commission’s finding that Mr. Hall was released for full duty is supported by the medical records exhibit (AR 110). Mr. Hall was released to full duty on December 18, 2001, by his treating physician Jeffrey D. Scott, M.D. (AR 110: MEDS 64). Mr. Hall also submitted his Summary of Medical Record to the Labor Commission on December 28, 2001, which provided that Mr. Hall had been released for usual work on 12/18/01. (AR 1). Mr. Hall’s physical therapist provided that Mr. Hall should attain stabilization of his symptoms within 3-4 weeks of November 1, 2001 (the date of the medical record), which would have placed his stabilization at or around December 18, 2001. (AR 110: MEDS 21). Mr. Hall’s physical therapist placed him at stabilization on December 3, 2001. (AR 110: MEDS 41).

In addition, Mr. Hall’s physical capacity evaluation provided that he was able to

utilize the majority of his body functions except for repetitive squeezing with his hands. (AR 110: MEDS 54). The second physical capacity evaluation conducted on December 3, 2001, showed marked improvement in all of Mr. Hall's body functions as well as lifting capacity. (AR 110: MEDS 61). Mr. Hall's Electrodiagnostic Evaluation also returned normal when it was conducted on December 4, 2001 and the doctor anticipated full release in 2 weeks time. (AR 110: MEDS 63). Mr. Hall was released to full duty on December 18, 2001 by his treating physician. (AR 110: MEDS 64).

The evidence in light of the entire record supports the Commission's factual finding that Mr. Hall was released to full duty on December 18, 2001. Because Mr. Hall was released to full duty on December 18, 2001, Mr. Hall was entitled to no additional temporary total disability benefits as found by the Labor Commission in its Order on Motion Denying Motion for Review (AR 91) and its Order Denying Request for Reconsideration (AR 107). This finding is supported by the entire record before the Court and, given Mr. Hall's failure to marshal the evidence, this Court should deny Mr. Hall's appeal and affirm the Commission's ruling.

III. DESPITE THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT A DISCUSSION OF LIGHT DUTY WAS IMMATERIAL, THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE FINDING THAT LIGHT DUTY WAS AVAILABLE TO MR. HALL AFTER DECEMBER 18, 2001

Mr. Hall contends in his Appellant Brief that discussion of light duty work is material to the instant appeal because under Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-410(2) temporary total disability benefits should be paid when restrictions are in place and no light duty is available. Mr. Hall's Appellant Brief, Page 10. As noted above, Mr. Hall failed to

properly challenge the Commission's finding of full release on December 18, 2001 and that fact has now been established. Regardless, Mr. Hall fails to take into account his stipulated facts that provided the basis for the Commission's opinion with respect to his work duties.

Specifically, Mr. Hall stipulated that he did not participate in loading or unloading the truck during the course of his employment with Consolidated. (AR 59). This fact is supported by his testimony at the evidentiary hearing. (AR 111: Page 9:6-21). Given the fact Mr. Hall was not required to lift product into his truck, and his restrictions on December 18, 2001, allowed him to conduct all normal aspects of life except for selected lifting restrictions, there was substantial evidence Mr. Hall was cleared to return to work after December 18, 2001. (AR 110: MEDS 64).

Regardless of the stipulations of fact and his trial testimony regarding the same, Mr. Hall argues that light duty was not available to Mr. Hall and argues this allows him to collect additional monies for temporary total disability. Mr. Hall's Appellant Brief, Page 11. Mr. Hall again failed to marshal the evidence regarding the availability of light duty work as found in the Supplemental Order issued by the Commission. The Commission originally found that light duty had been available to Mr. Hall, but Mr. Hall had declined to take the light duty work available. (AR 61).

Specifically, the Commission found Mr. Hall had knowledge of the workers' compensation procedures when it found he had made prior claims for a rotator cuff tear at a previous job and a claim for carpal tunnel syndrome prior to working for Consolidated. (AR 60). The Commission also found Mr. Hall was aware of Consolidated's policy

requiring prompt reporting of any and all injuries believed to be related to industrial work activities for Consolidated. (AR 60).

The Commission found Mr. Hall had admitted he had right upper extremity problems for a year and a half before he reported his industrial injury on October 29, 2001. (AR 60). Mr. Hall reported his industrial injury the day after he was notified that he was no longer going to be working for Consolidated as a result of a corporate layoff. (AR 60). Consolidated presented evidence to the Commission, and the Commission found, that Consolidated sent a letter via certified mail and hand delivery to Mr. Hall on October 28, 2001 that Mr. Hall was being laid off from work with Consolidated. (AR 60).

Mr. Hall prepared a written statement of injury wherein he notified Consolidated of his industrial claim on October 28, 2001. (AR 60). Consolidated presented evidence to the Commission, and the Commission found, that Mr. Hall received a letter on January 2, 2002, which provided that he was being recalled from the corporate layoff effective January 21, 2002. (AR 60). Mr. Hall testified that he discussed the layoff with Lew Duffin, a manager with Condoliated, on January 2, 2002, after having received the letter recalling him from his layoff status. (AR 60-61). The Commission found pursuant to the medical records that Mr. Hall was released to light duty on November 1, 2001, and released to regular duty on December 18, 2001. (AR 61).

The Commission found through Mr. Hall's direct testimony that Mr. Hall was aware individuals were given light duty, which was consistent with the testimony from ex-Consolidated Managers Roy Johnson and Steve Hillstead. (AR 61). Based upon the

foregoing, the Commission weighed the evidence presented in the case and determined that Mr. Hall's allegations regarding the absence of light duty work was not credible due to Mr. Hall's self-serving statements, his lack of documentation regarding light duty work, and lack of supporting evidence regarding the availability of light duty work. (AR 61). Finally, the Commission found there was not a preponderance of the evidence to support Mr. Hall's claims "that he thereafter contemporaneously documented further light duty restrictions, requested light-duty, or that it was denied." (AR 62).

On Review, the Commission noted the discussion on the availability of light duty and tacitly agreed with the ALJ's findings regarding the same. (AR 93). The ALJ's analysis of light duty availability is supported by substantial evidence in the record. If this Court finds that a discussion on light duty is warranted, despite Mr. Hall's full release back to work, this Court should find the Commission's findings pertaining to the light duty issue to be supported by substantial evidence in the record.

The ALJ's findings on the light duty issue are supported by the trial transcript. Mr. Hall knew the policy of reporting workers' compensation injuries immediately after they occurred. (AR 111: Page 8:13-16). He knew that light duty was available while working for Consolidated. (AR 111: Page 8:17-22). Mr. Hal acknowledged talking to Lew Duffin about his industrial injury on October 29, 2001 (AR 57B) and they sent him over to the Salt Lake Industrial Clinic. (AR 111: Page 18:3-10).

The Commission found that Mr. Hall had received a return to work letter on two separate occasions. (AR 57C-57D). This fact was corroborated by Roy Johnson, an ex-employee of Consolidated. (AR 111: Page 24:22-25). He also provided that light duty

was available to injured employees. (AR 111: Page 25:4-13). This fact was further corroborated by Steven R. Hillstead, an ex-employee of consolidated when asked the same questions. (AR 111: Page 32:8-13).

As a result of the entire record, the Commission's analysis and findings regarding the fact that light duty was available to Mr. Hall is supported by substantial evidence in the entire record. As a result, Mr. Hall's attempt to have this Court reweigh the evidence in his favor should be denied. Mr. Hall did not properly marshal the evidence in support of the Commission's findings and, as a result, those findings are deemed to be supported by substantial evidence. Regardless, the findings were supported by findings in the record and the findings should be upheld.

Mr. Hall's attempt to challenge the finding of light duty availability fails as a result of his failure to marshal the evidence. In addition, prior courts have ruled that "when reviewing an agency's decision, [we do] not ... reweigh the evidence." Ameritemps, 2005 UT App 491 at ¶ 27, *citing*, Questar Pipeline Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 850 P.2d 1175, 1178 (Utah 1993). Mr. Hall would have this Court reweigh the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing despite there being substantial evidence in the entire record to support the Commission's rulings in this case. As a result, this Court should deny Mr. Hall's appeal and uphold the rulings of the Labor Commission.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, Consolidated requests this Court deny Mr. Hall's appeal for failing to show substantial prejudice as a result of a factual finding of the Commission that was not supported by substantial evidence in the record. Mr. Hall failed

to properly challenge the Commission's findings of fact and, as a result, those findings are presumed to be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If the findings were supported by substantial evidence in the record, Mr. Hall cannot show substantial prejudice as required on appeal and his appeal fails. This Court, therefore, should deny Mr. Hall's appeal and uphold the rulings of the Labor Commission.